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Friday, August 16, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Good morning everybody.  We are here today to hear argument on a motion that has been filed by HRAI seeking further disclosure from Enbridge Gas.  I'm going to start by asking for appearances.  Enbridge Gas.
Appearances


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, Commissioner Moran.  Nice to see I.  So, my name is David Stevens.  I'm counsel with Enbridge Gas for this motion.  With me today are Vanessa Innis, Darren McIlwraith and Robert Rutitis.  Also with us today online is Angela Monforton.  Ms. Monforton will be pulling up documents as will be helpful.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  HRAI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for HRAI, the Heating, Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Institute of Canada.

MR. MORAN:  OEB Staff?

MR. RICHLER:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Ian Richler, counsel for OEB Staff, and I'm joined by Khalil Viraney, Lindsay Wright and Catherine Nguyen from the OEB Staff team.

MR. MORAN:  I notice there are a number of other parties participating.  Can we get appearances from those, please?

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  We don't want to make additional submissions today in addition to what was filed already.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Scott Pollock, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.

MR. YAUCH:  Brady Yauch from APPrO.  We are not making any submissions today.

MR. ABU-ESEIFAN:  Khaled Abu-Eseifan and Jaya Chatterjee, Kitchener Utilities.  We are not making any submissions today.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Abu-Eseifan.

MS. ANTONY:  Albin Antony, TransCanada --


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan.  On behalf of the -- sorry.

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Antony --


MS. GIRVAN:  I am Julie Girvan on behalf of Consumers Council of Canada and we submitted a letter in support of HRAI's motion and we won't be making any further submissions today.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

MS. ANTONY:  I apologize for interrupting.  Albin Antony on behalf of TransCanada Pipelines Limited and we do not plan on making any submissions today.
Preliminary Matters


MR. MORAN:  Ms. Antony, thank you.  Okay.  The next thing to cover is how we're going to deal with confidential information.  Some information has been provided to a limited number of people based on signing undertakings.  And so, Mr. Shepherd, I was just wondering to what extent would you need to refer specifically to the information that you've gained access to so we can determine how we might deal with it procedurally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I tend to -- I intend to make a reference to the document but not to any of its confidential components.  Nothing in -- in the confidential stuff would be disclosed on the record.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And is it just the undertaking, the one undertaking question or is there other...

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.  I mean, Enbridge may make up making a claim for confidentiality on some of the other stuff, but as of right now the only thing be we've seen is one document.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And Mr. Stevens, I assume that Ms. Monforton will know not to put that document up on the screen if it's being referred to?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.  There is a redacted version which has been filed of that undertaking so I presume if we are speaking to that particular document, it will be the redacted version that will be shared with everyone.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And is there any other that has been referenced in Mr. Shepherd's motion that requires any kind of confidential treatment at this point?  I'm not aware of any, but let's see if it's --

MR. STEVENS:  There is nothing in my knowledge, Commissioner Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Good.  So that means we wouldn't -- it sounds like we don't have to go in camera at any point but I guess we'll rely on you, Mr. Shepherd, to make sure that if we do, that we do -- can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I promise not to blab.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you very much.  All right.  So with that, I think that we'll turn the floor over to you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask, the proposal was made for an order.  Is that order that was in the schedule, is that the order that the Board is -- wishes to hear submissions?  That is, HRAI, OEB Staff, Enbridge and then our reply?

MR. MORAN:  That's correct, yes.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  All right.  I probably won't use my whole 45 minutes, although I have been known to be prolix in the past.  So I represent HRAI, which is basically all the manufacturers, wholesalers, distributors, contractors, financiers in the HVAC industry in Canada.  Basically everybody who is a significant material player in the industry is a member of the organization, which is like a trade association.  It does training and things like that.  To give you an idea, once Enbridge Sustain is an independent company and is competing without any subsidy or is demonstrated it already is, then they'll likely become a member because everybody else is.  So I just want to set that context.  

And our goal is to make sure that that they're not getting a subsidy from ratepayers.  That's what we're here for.  And this motion is to put information on the record that we think you'll need to reach a conclusion on ratepayer funding.  

I want to make two key points at the outset:  First of all, the whole Enbridge Sustain thing has had a theme of secrecy.  They didn't disclose it in Phase 1.  They fought its inclusion in Phase 2, and now they won't provide any documentary evidence even though the commissioners have -- have established an issue that says Enbridge has to demonstrate that they're not funding through rates.  And yet they refuse to put any documentary evidence.  All they're willing to do is say we're not funding it through rates.  That really doesn't meet their onus.  That's the first thing.  

The second thing is, and this is probably going to be obvious to you, the industry knows what Enbridge Sustain is doing already, and including most of the details.  This is not about finding stuff out.  There have been some comments from Enbridge that this information is confidential and proprietary.  Well, no, we know it all already.  This is about getting the information on the record so that we -- the OEB knows what we already know.

Now, why do we know that?  Well, first of all, it is the HVAC industry, so everybody in the industry knows everybody else.  They belong to the same association.  They go to the same conferences.  But more importantly, they play golf together, they curl together, they go to the same church.  These are people that know each other.  So that's the first thing.  The second thing is when Enbridge Sustain pitches a homeowner on a hybrid heating system, for example, often right after that, a member of HRAI is brought in by the homeowner and the homeowner says, "Here, this is what Enbridge Sustain is offering us.  Can you beat that?"  So we know what they are offering in the marketplace because we see it every day.  So, this is about getting that information that we already know on the record in front of you.

The last preliminary comment I would make is the Enbridge Sustain business is characterized as if it's -- I mean, it's called Sustain.  Obviously it is an environmental business.  Well no, they have geo, geothermal, they have PV, and they have EV chargers, and they are doing some of that, for sure.  But this is really about selling hybrid heating systems.  

Their product, the key product they're selling is a hybrid heating system which is a gas furnace, a heat pump and a controller.  The heat pump is a heat pump source from Gree, which is a Chinese air-conditioning company that may be, I'm not sure, but I think it is the largest maker of low-cost heat pumps in the world.  And Gree has also built for them a controller.  It's a thermostat really, that turns on the gas furnace whenever the incremental cost of gas is less than electricity.  That's important, the incremental cost of gas.  And that means in the winter, it is basically gas every day.  At night it's electricity through the heat pump, but during the day it's gas.  And sometimes in the shoulder periods, the heat pump is going to be selected over gas. 

This stuff is all important because I don't want you to think that we are arguing against an environmentally beneficial business.  It's not.  It is a hybrid heating business.

So, all right.  So the issue is has Enbridge demonstrated that Enbridge Sustain is not being funded through rates?  This is not the first time they've been in this industry; 25 years ago they were in the equipment rental business.  That's what they're doing here, by the way.  They are renting equipment to homeowners.  And 25 years ago, they were in that same business. And it was mostly water heaters, but it was also furnaces and air conditioners.  And they, in a series of decisions, the -- and that was funded by rates.  And in a series of decisions in the late '90s, the OEB said, no, you can't do that.  You can't fund your unregulated business through rates.  You are going to have to fully allocate the proper cost to that business and make it stand on its own.

And what Enbridge said, and we've included the whole decision as appendix D of our materials.  And it is actually interesting reading; if you are, like me, an energy geek, then it's fun to read.  But at page 26 the Board says:
"The company has stated that it does not wish to continue the rental program as a going concern, partly because it is unprofitable to do so under fully allocated costs."

Now, the record has a bunch of information on this, but what the Board says is, "Look, you say you can't run it under fully allocated costs.  We've told you you have to fully allocate costs to this. You cannot subsidize it though rates."

And so what happened, Enbridge first spun it out to an affiliate and then sold it to what is now Enercare.

That's important because our logic, HRAI's logic is well, if you couldn't make it run the business without ratepayer funding then, and make a profit, what's different today?

And so obviously the first thing could be maybe they're just running it better. They're running it smarter.  They're being more efficient with it, so they are making a profit on it.  But we know because we have on the record the information, that that's not the case.  All of their stuff is being done through dealers, and they're offering the dealers a better deal than the dealers could make themselves.

The dealers are making more money working for Enbridge, rather than running their business themselves.  These are successful dealers.  So obviously, Enbridge can't cover all the dealers' costs and all their own costs and be competitive in the market and make money.  That just -- the math doesn't work.

And then when you look at their internal costs, their internal costs are SAP and Accenture which are known to be -- I mean, all of you I think have experience with this, are known to be expensive solutions, ones that typically an HVAC contractor would never even consider; they are too expensive.

And you have information on the record about Accenture and about SAP, and you know who -- what they're doing with their dealers because they've admitted to it.

So if they're not running it more efficiently, then somewhere there is some funding going into it.  You can't run a business and compete in a competitive market if you don't either operate it more efficiently, have higher prices or get funding from somewhere else.

So there's only three sources that they can get funding from.

One is they can get it from the customers.  That is they can structure their contracts with customers so that the customers think they're getting a great deal but in fact they're paying a lot of money for the products.  That sounds a lot like a scam and I want to be very clear:  I don't think that's what they're doing.  And none of the information we're getting in the market is that that's what they're doing.  But that's one of the options.

If you are looking at it logically that's one of the options.

And so we've asked one -- one of the things we've asked for is their rental contract with numbers in it.  It doesn't need to be a particular person, just representative numbers.  Keep in mind we've seen these rental contracts, so we know what the numbers are, but you don't.  And so we are asking them to tell you what we already know.

So that's the first option, is they're funding this though charging the ratepayers too much, or the customers too much.

And as I say, I want to be clear, I don't think that's what they're doing.

There's only two other choices.  They can get the money from the shareholders, the funding to cover the costs of this business that clearly, to be competitive, can't operate -- can't be profitable, or from the ratepayers.  There are only two choices.  There is no other source of this money.

So to see which it is -- and I should say, we don't know which it is.  I can guess, but I don't know.  But in order to see that, you need to see their business plans and their forecasts so that you can tell, (a) are they making money?  If they're not making money, then the shareholder is funding it.  Or if they are making money, then you have to look at the costs and see, are these reasonable costs?  Because if they are making money, the costs are likely understated.  And that means the ratepayers are funding it.

And so all of the information that we've asked for, information on, for example, the business plans, for example, their various financial forecasts, for -- and many components of those forecasts, are in order to determine is this money coming from the shareholder or from the ratepayer?

Now if it's coming from the ratepayer, that's your concern.  And it doesn't matter whether it's in an affiliate or in the utility, it is still your concern.  This is something that regularly is reviewed by the Board in cases where there is an affiliate, for example, that has transactions with the utility.  And the Board will -- in fact, the Chapter 2 appendices for electricity actually have a table that looks at the various transactions with affiliates, to make sure that they're all fair.  So this is something you have to look at in any case.

So if it's coming from the ratepayers, then you have to look at what those costs are.

If it's coming from the shareholders, that may not be your concern because if Enbridge is doing this -- Enbridge the group is doing this to support keeping their gas infrastructure, fighting the energy transition by installing as much hybrid heating as possible and pricing it as low as possible so they can get as much in the market, which would be a legitimate strategy, I should say, that may not be this Board's concern.  I am going to sort of keep my powder dry on that because it may be, it may not be.  But right now, you have made clear that you're looking at rates.  And so that's what I'm interested in.

If it's Enbridge Inc. that's subsidizing it, then it may be that the Competition Bureau will be interested in that because it may be predatory pricing.

That's a separate issue, and I would suggest that you're probably not concerned with that right now.

So, but in any case, in order to decide, to determine where the subsidy is coming from, you need to know -- you need to see this information.  And we've asked for a series of pieces of information that are basically forecasts through the rate period to demonstrate that this business is viable on its own.

And it if it's not viable on its own, if it's losing money, then Enbridge Inc. is subsidizing it.

If it is not viable on its own, or if it looks like it's viable but we know that it must have a subsidy somewhere, then it is probably the ratepayers, and then you have to look at the costs. But in either case, you can't do that without evidence, and Enbridge has all the evidence.

And so I can take you through the various individual documents if you like, but they really all come down to this same logic which is, is the business is operated more efficiently?  No, probably not.  But we've asked for the dealer agreement so we can see whether that's the case.  

Or, if it's not being operated more efficiently is it being operated on the backs of the Enbridge Sustain customers?  And we've asked for numbers on the rental contract to see whether that's the case. And if not, then it's got to be either the shareholder or the ratepayers.  That's the only places they can get the money and you will know that by seeing the business plans and the forecasts.  

So unless you have any questions, that's all I have to say in chief.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Let me just canvass my colleagues.  Commissioner Sword, any questions?  Sorry, Commissioner Sword, I think you are on mute.

MR. SWORD:  Sorry, Commissioner Moran.  I signalled no.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  The problem with the tiny thumbnails.

MR. SWORD:  Moving around, perhaps a gesture I did not mean to make if it was indicating a question.  Thank you, though, for checking in.

MR. MORAN:  No problem.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  No questions here.

MR. MORAN:  Commissioner Duff.
Questions by the Board


MS. DUFF:  I just had one for clarification.  Mr. Shepherd, you took the position that your submission, your arguments, are framed, like, at a macro level regarding your entire request.  But just tactically, because that's kind of what I do, I was just going through what were interrogatories that you asked for that were not -- what were the undertakings?  And just to be clear, the one part that was a bit foggy for me were the transcript references.  And you gave -- I don't mean to put you on the spot but there were 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.  I counted five.  There were five different page references, so just to do a number crunching, I assume there was five requests embedded in those transcript references.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Do you want to just take a second and confirm that, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I can walk you through each one of those if you like.  So, the first one which is on pages 80 and 81 is the one where we asked for the rental contract.  They've already undertaken and they have, in fact, supplied a new one.  The one they provided us was not one they were actually using. They provided a new one in an undertaking but what we asked for was one filled in with numbers, so it -- representative numbers, not particular customers so we can see what the ratios are, how much the customers are actually paying for the Gree and for the service.  Are because if it's very high, then maybe -- then that would suggest that they're in fact, getting their profit, profitability from the customers.  And as I say, I don't think they're doing that but we don't it know unless they put that stuff on the record.  That's the first one, 80, 81 and 82.  And I think the refusal is on page 83.  And then the next one is on page 83 and 84 we've asked for the dealer agreement.  I think this -- yes.  And that was refused.  I think that's where we asked for the dealer agreement and that was refused.  And the reason we want to see the dealer agreement is to see whether, in fact, what we think is the case, that is they're offering a very sweet deal to dealers, and therefore their costs are not low, they're high is true.  

I should give you a piece of background on that.  Two of the dealers are people I've known for many years.  One of them was the chair of the Utility Action Committee of HRAI, which is the committee that instructs me as their lawyer, and he was the chair of it until he signed up with his company -- his company signed up with Enbridge Sustain, and then of course he had to leave it.  

The second, Mike Martino, is the top supplier of equipment to new home builders, and he has also been a friend of mine for 20-odd years and, in fact, is a client of mine.  And he was also on that committee.  So, these are the people that they have signed up and are people we know.  And we know that they wouldn't sign up unless they got a very good deal.  But you don't know that.  You don't know these people.  And you don't know that that's the case unless you see the dealer contract.  

The next is, on page 108 of the transcript we asked for the business plan in 1.18.HRAI-5 and we asked for it again on the transcript at page 108 and it was again refused.

MS. DUFF:  It is kind of a duplication in a way, right?  You were just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  For sure.  And then the next is the management financial package which is at page 111 of the -- 111 and 112, I guess, of the transcript.  And they have provided it confidentially but it's not the whole management financial package.  We were very clear we want to see the whole package.  So it's not just a series of numbers, it's also a presentation.  Here's what we're doing, here's where we're going with this and they have not provided that.

MS. DUFF:  But just to restate that, the undertaking that was JT4.16, which they provided, is still not sufficient in your opinion?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it has not provided the whole thing.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the last is the -- or no -- there's two of them here, the credit -- sorry, the -- yes.  The credit agreement with that Canada Infrastructure Bank because somehow the money from -- the $200 million from CIB is getting to Enbridge Sustain to fund purchases by customers.  It's going through some special purpose entity they say, but they haven't told us anything about the structure of it, and so we don't know how the ratepayers are protected since it's going -- it ends up in EGI.  The money ends up in EGI.  How does it get there?  They won't tell us.  And EGI did sign the MOU which they've refused to provide, and we've also asked for the credit agreement which is page 116.

MS. DUFF:  To reiterate, the reference on page 116 is about the agreement and then the memorandum of understanding, I believe, was actually a transcript undertaking JT4.17.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I actually -- I said the dealer agreement was -- no, I think that's it.

MS. DUFF:  In -- on transcript 133 there were some -- the reference to direct legal costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, so I included that because we asked in the transcript undertaking which is...

MS. DUFF:  JT4.19.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is JT4.19.  We asked for all of the costs of Enbridge Sustain associated with these particular categories.  And they've refused to provide the forecasts but they have also, in the -- this said, they've -- they call it a breakdown of all costs incurred year-to-date from Enbridge central functions in 2024.  But that's not what we asked for.  We asked for all the costs, and so it's not clear to us that this is all the costs because they -- they presumably pay some stuff directly.  They did a $200 million deal with Canada Infrastructure Bank that didn't cost them $100,000 in legal fees.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, that answers my question.  So, I want to make sure exactly what the information you were seeking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  That's it, Mr. Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  I don't have any questions at this point, so I think we're over to you, Mr. Richler.
Submissions by Mr. Richler


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  In the limited time we have today, we do not intend to go through every refusal one by one.  Instead, we will elucidate some general principles that we hope will provide some assistance to the Commissioners in assessing HRAI's motion.

In particular, we will share our thoughts on what types of questions about Enbridge Sustain would be better explored in the compliance context rather than a rates case.

Let's recall that after HRAI requested to intervene in this case, Enbridge Gas advised that it would spin off Enbridge Sustain into an affiliate by the end of 2024.  That timing was confirmed in Enbridge Gas's interrogatory responses -- see HRAI-25.  Creating an affiliate will in our view strengthen ratepayer protection by bringing the Affiliate Relationships Code, or ARC, into play.

We acknowledge that Enbridge Gas says in its evidence that it "already applies to the principles of the ARC in relation to Enbridge Sustain", but that is not the same as being legally bound by the ARC.  


And that brings me to the main point that I would like to make today:  Once Enbridge Sustain has moved to an affiliate, the ARC will apply, and concerns about improper ratepayer subsidies can be dealt with as an ARC compliance matter.

One of the stated purposes of the ARC is to:
"Minimize the potential for a utility to cross-subsidize competitive or non-monopoly activities."

That's from the ARC at page 2.

The ARC sets out a number of specific rules for doing that, including rules about cost allocation, rules about shared services and rules about guaranteeing an affiliate's debts.  Those rules are enforceable provisions within the meaning of the OEB Act.

The OEB is therefore authorized to monitor and enforce compliance with them.  Our compliance division is well placed to do that.

Our position then is that the focus in this proceeding should be on the interim period before Sustain has moved to an affiliate which, again, Enbridge Gas has said will be by the end of this year.

It is quite proper and in keeping with the approved issues list to scrutinize whether Enbridge Gas has shown that its 2024 revenue requirement does not include any amounts to fund the Sustain business.

But we have difficulty seeing how details about 2025 and beyond, when Sustain will be a separate corporation subject to the ARC, are relevant in this case.  To the extent that HRAI is asking for such details, including details about forecast costs and revenues for 2025 and beyond, we see Enbridge Gas's refusal to provide them as being justified.

HRAI argues that -- I'm quoting from their notice of motion, "2024 is not a representative year."  HRAI says, for instance, that since Sustain is currently in start-up mode, the 2024 numbers would not be indicative of how the business will evolve.

That may be true, but in our view it is somewhat beside the point.  Even if Sustain looks very different in 2025 or 2028 than it looks today, any concerns about ratepayer subsidies can be dealt with as an ARC compliance matter.

In short, we would submit that information relating generally to the nature of the Sustain business, as well as information relating to how Sustain is funded in 2024, is relevant in this proceeding.  However, information relating to the affiliate in 2025 and beyond, such as forecast cost and revenues, is not relevant.

It is a matter of public record that HRAI has already made a complaint about Sustain to the OEB's compliance division; an inspection is underway.

If, after Sustain has moved to an affiliate, HRAI or anyone else has further concerns about cross-subsidization, they may raise them with the compliance division.  And if any noncompliance with the ARC is found, the OEB will have a range of remedies at our disposal.  But this case is about setting just and reasonable rates for Enbridge Gas.  The focus should be whether 2024 rates implicitly include ratepayer subsidies for Sustain.

Subject to any questions, those are our submissions.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.  Mr. Sword, any questions?


MR. SWORD:  No.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Zlahtic?


MR. ZLAHTIC:  No, Mr. Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Commissioner Duff?

MS. DUFF:  No.
Questions by the Board


MR. MORAN:  Commissioner Elsayed.  Just one question, Mr. Richler.  So if I understand your arguments on this point, it all turns upon whether, in fact, down the road Enbridge Gas actually does roll Enbridge Sustain out into an affiliate.  Correct?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And if they don't then, of course, this is a multi-year rates process that we're setting, the forecasts could be relevant in that context.  Correct?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, that's correct.  So I think -- I mean, if there's -- if the evidence that's been provided as lately as the interrogatory responses, is that this will be spun out into an affiliate by the end of the year, if there were concerns that that date might shift, the Commissioners could certainly consider providing directions or imposing conditions, for instance, requiring the company to advise when the creation of the affiliate has in fact been completed, that that would be something we would want to keep an eye on.  Because you are quite right, that the logic of our argument loses its force if they were to change their mind and decide to keep the Sustain business within Enbridge Gas Inc.

MR. MORAN:  Change their mind, or delay the implementing.  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Richler.  I think we are over to you now, Mr. Stevens.
Submissions by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, very much, Commissioner Moran.  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is David Stevens; I am counsel with Enbridge Gas for this application.

Just at the outset I want to address, I would like to address the exchange that was just had about Enbridge Sustain moving into an affiliate.  While we've been sitting here, I have consulted with Mr. Rutitis and Mr. McIlwraith, who both work with Enbridge Sustain, and they've confirmed to me that indeed the process is underway and the plans are firm that Enbridge Sustain will be moving to an affiliate by the end of the year.

I mean, I recognize I am counsel here, not the witness; if you prefer to hear from them, then we can do that.

MR. MORAN:  No.  That is fine, Mr. Stevens.  Carry on.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

So at the outset, I will apologize that I am afraid that I may end up using most of my time.  Enbridge Gas did not file, as you know, any written submissions, so it will take a little bit of time to establish and go through our position.  But we certainly are mindful of the time that's allotted to us, and we will stay within that.

So I think it's common ground that the test for whether something should be produced is whether it's relevant.  There is, you know, a related question as to whether things being produced are confidential.

We agree with Mr. Shepherd's submissions that that can be dealt with under the OEB's Practice Direction on Confidential Filings.  And we do want to note at the outset that should some of the information requested in this motion be compelled, we may well be seeking confidential information -- or confidential treatments for such information.  


The question of what's relevant in this case is of course defined by the issues list.  There is only one issue in Phase 2 that relates to the items that are brought up in this motion; that's issue 27.  Issue 27 asks:
"Has Enbridge Gas demonstrated that Enbridge Sustain's activities are not funded through rates?"

The scope of this issue was defined in Procedural Order No. 2 in the decision on issues list.

And I will say with some trepidation, and at the risk of telling the authors of this decision what you meant when you wrote the decision, that I'd like to spend just a couple of minutes going through what is actually written in the issue decision to scope the issue.  

Now, I have shared with OEB Staff and with Mr. Shepherd this morning a document brief with four different documents from the record of this case that go beyond what's in the HRAI motion record and which I might refer to.  Ms. Monforton has that, and she's going to bring up the documents.  I'm in your hands as to whether this should be an exhibit or not.  I mean, as I say, they are all items that are on the record but I have added some highlighting.

MR. MORAN:  Why don't we just mark that as an exhibit.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's call that KM, M for motion, 1.1.
EXHIBIT. KM 1.1:  BRIEF OF DOCUMENTS FROM MR. STEVENS.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So, Ms. Monforton, can we please turn to page 8 of the decision, which is page 9 of the brief.  And if we go down a little bit there's a discussion of the Enbridge Sustain issue.  And what we see here is the very broad issue, or I'll call it the very broad issue, that HRAI recommended for Phase 2.  HRAI recommended that the OEB consider whether the existing be and planned activities of Enbridge Gas related to Enbridge Sustain and the proposal to carry on that business as an unregulated ancillary business within the regulated utility are appropriate and do the terms and procedures under which it is and will be operated fully protect the ratepayers.  So, that's what HRAI proposed.  After considering submissions from Enbridge Gas and all parties, the OEB decided it would consider only a much more narrow question in Phase 2.

Can you please turn to page 10 of the decision, page 11 of the brief.  And here we can see the OEB's findings on this issue.  I will just read out what's highlighted.  
"The OEB made the following finding saying if HRAI were correct that Enbridge Gas is using rate-payer funding for Enbridge Sustain, whether it's carried out as ancillary business or through an affiliate, that would be concerning.  The challenge is there is no actual evidence on the record in this proceeding to support or refute that allegation.  The OEB is of the view that it is appropriate to explore that narrow rate-making question in Phase 2.  The OEB finds that the issue as phrased by the HRAI in its May 10, 2024 submission is too broad and risks overlapping with the inspection that the OEB's compliance group has initiated at HRAI's request."


And then further, later on in the decision when the OEB considered and granted HRAI's request for cost eligibility, and now we're at page 15 of the brief, page 14 of the decision, the OEB repeated what is -- appears to be the OEB's view about the narrowness of the issue.  And the OEB stated:
"The new issue is fundamentally about just and reasonable rates, not about competition within the HVAC sector." 

Thanks very much, Angela.  I may return to some documents later but it will be a little while.  

So on this point, I want to highlight that the rates at issue in this case are 2024 rates.  That's what's being set in this rebasing proceeding.  Rates for 2025 to 2028 are not being set on a cost of service basis.  In our submission, the OEB's review of whether the declined interrogatories and other requests should be answered ought to be done in the context of whether the answers to these questions are relevant to the narrow rate-making issue the OEB has defined in this case.  As I will set out in a bit more detail over the next few minutes, Enbridge Gas says the declined questions are not relevant and asks the OEB to decline or dismiss HRAI's motion.

Now, important context from my perspective is that HRAI has said that it will file evidence about what it should cost Enbridge Gas to deliver the projects of Enbridge Sustain.  HRAI filed a letter on June 10, 2024 describing its evidence proposal.

Sorry, I'm coming back to you more quickly than I thought, Angela.  If you could please turn to page 26 of the brief, this is a copy of the letter from HRAI.  And you can see in the highlighted portion HRAI's counsel talks about the evidence that they expect to file and says the evidence will address what the Enbridge Sustain budgets and forecasts should look like if, in fact, there was a level playing field in the competitive markets.  

So, I submit it's clear that HRAI believes it needs the information it's requesting through this motion in order to prepare its evidence.  And for reference for that I won't take you to it, but I'll point you to paragraph 28 of the Notice of Motion where HRAI says just that.  Now, we say that just because HRAI wants the requested information does not make automatically make the information relevant.  

Issue 27 in this case is not about whether there is or should be a level playing field for HVAC providers.  With respect, we say that's not the OEB's role here.  The OEB is not overseeing the competitiveness of the HVAC market.  How Enbridge Sustain plans to run its business is not at issue.  What is at issue is whether Enbridge Sustain is being subsidized by ratepayers.  We say that for consideration of issue 27 it ought not to matter whether Enbridge Sustain is a viable business, now or ever.  Is it ought not to matter whether Enbridge Sustain plans to operate at an immediate profit.  It ought not to matter whether Enbridge Sustain charges its customers in the same way that a typical HRAI member might proceed.  

Procedural Order No. 2 confirms that this case is not about competition within the HVAC sector.  The OEB's role here, we submit, is to ensure that ratepayers are not subsidizing or funding Enbridge Sustain's activities in an improper way.  And considering that question we say does not invite or require the OEB to consider and determine whether a different startup business would operate differently.

The OEB's task is to ensure that Enbridge Sustain is properly paying for resources and services it receives from the regulated utility.  If Enbridge Sustain is indeed properly paying for any such resources and services, then its activities are not being funded through rates.  

My friend took you to an old decision from the OEB, one of a series of decisions, the one he pointed to was from 1999 about the former Consumers Gas rental program, primarily for water heaters but also for other things.  

Now, HRAI seems to rely on that old decision for the proposition that Enbridge Gas, or Consumers Gas as it was at that point, said that it cannot continue to operate the rental business within the utility on a profitable business if fully allocated costs were used.  HRAI goes further and says that Enbridge Gas should have to prove that the current Enbridge Sustain business is viable without a ratepayer subsidy.  

Now, in our submission, the 1999 decision or the series of unbundling decisions are not pertinent to the current situation.  Those decisions dealt with the unbundling or the moving out of the utility of a very long-established rental business that had been established and run through the utility itself.  And I submit it's not surprising that a rental business that it operated for a very long time directly within the utility as approved by the OEB -- by the way, it's not surprising that that rental business would have difficulty operating profitably under fully allocated costing, if it had not done so previously.  

But we're not dealing with an analogous situation here.  Here, Enbridge Sustain was established from the outset as a separate line of business apart from the regulated utility.  Enbridge Sustain has had fully allocated costing in place since its inception.  We have produced documents in response to undertakings and in our prefiled evidence that established that.  This makes it different from the prior rental program.

As I've said, whether or not Enbridge Sustain is now or will become viable is not an issue for the OEB to consider in this case.

And in any event, I will say further, that as was the case after 1999 with the previous rental program, Enbridge Gas is moving its ancillary Enbridge Sustain business to an affiliate.  And from the time that happens, by late this year, the ARC rules will apply in terms of transfer pricing and other matters.

Now, when considering whether Enbridge Gas should answer the additional questions, we submit that it's important context to understand and appreciate that Enbridge Gas has already provided substantial information about Enbridge Sustain in this case.

My friend left the impression that there's no information on the record or very little information on the record.  And, with respect, I disagree.  Enbridge Gas filed its original evidence, Exhibit 1, tab 18, schedule 1 on June 12.  That included seven pages of narrative evidence and five pages of attachments.

Enbridge Gas then answered 41 interrogatories, many of which had a large number of subparts that related to this evidence.  And it was only in a small number of instances did Enbridge Gas decline to provide portions of the information requested, either on the grounds of irrelevance or unavailability.

Enbridge Gas then presented four witnesses at the technical conference to answer questions about Enbridge Sustain.  Those witnesses answered questions for more than two-and-a-half hours, a large portion of the overall technical conference, and those questions were primarily from HRAI.

Finally, Enbridge Gas provided written answers to 12 undertakings given at the technical conference about Enbridge Sustain.  So we say there is already substantial information on the record in order for Enbridge Gas to make its case as required under issue 27.  And in some cases, Enbridge Gas has actually gone further than required by the narrow issue 27 in order to be helpful.

You know, an example of that is Enbridge Gas has provided copies of its rental contract.  We say the rental contract has nothing to do with what's in front of the OEB right now, but we were hopeful that we could satisfy HRAI's curiosity by providing copies of the document.  Apparently now that's insufficient, and I will talk about that later.

Similarly, while we say that the details and the actual documents related to the dealer arrangement and the dealer agreement aren't relevant, we did provide details in response to interrogatories, in order to allay the accusations and concerns from HRAI about whether the dealer arrangements are exclusive, or whether they have defined geographical areas, each of which are not the case.

We say that the questions at issue in this motion that Enbridge Gas has declined to answer are quite limited in the context of what's already been asked and answered.  The questions at issue relate to business plans, forecasts beyond 2024 and contract documents with third parties.

Each and every one of these items is outside the bound of issue 27, and that's why Enbridge Gas maintains its position.  We suggest that HRAI's requests are demonstrative of its attempt to continue to complete a full-scale audit of Enbridge Sustain as if the broad issue that HRAI had initially proposed had been accepted by the OEB instead of being rejected.

It could be that some of the declined requests would have been relevant under the broader issue, but we say they're not relevant under issue 27.

And so now I will move on and set out Enbridge Gas's response to the specific request made by HRAI, using the five categories that are set out in the HRAI notice of motion.  As I do that, I am going to be going through five areas -- and I am happy to stop at any point, Commissioner Moran, if it's appropriate to take the morning break.

MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Stevens, why don't we aim to take the break at around 10:45.  Just find a suitable break point in your argument at around there.  And that should work fine.

MR. STEVENS:  Very good.  I will do that, thank you.

So the first category of requests from HRAI relate to business plans.  HRAI-5 asked Enbridge Gas to provide copies of the initial and current business plans for Enbridge Sustain.  The company's response was these aren't relevant, and they have no bearing or relevance on the question of whether Enbridge Sustain's activities are funded through rates.

And this position was repeated when the question was repeated at the technical conference.  Now, as I've already taken you to, your decision on cost eligibility and on the scope of the issue confirmed that this issue is not focused on review in the place of Enbridge Sustain within the competitive HVAC industry.

We submit that knowing the business plans for Enbridge Sustain does not help answer the question of whether Enbridge Sustain's activities are funded through rates.

Business plans will set out how Enbridge Sustain plans to develop and grow, including products that it will offer and business strategies.

That does not bear on the question of whether ratepayers are subsidizing the business.

While HRAI is undoubtedly interested in seeing these highly confidential business plans, we say they are not necessary or relevant to the determination of issue 27.

HRAI says in its materials that the business plans are needed to evaluate whether the nature of Enbridge Sustain is actually as has been represented.  Putting aside the inflammatory nature of that statement, I will point out that there is already information on the record describing what Enbridge Sustain is telling the world is the nature of its business.

In the questions that HRAI has put to Enbridge Gas to answer, various pieces of marketing materials and excerpts from Enbridge Sustain's website have been reproduced and have been put on the record describing what it is that Enbridge Sustain is doing and will do.

We say that HRAI's accusation, that if Enbridge Sustain's business plan shows that it will be profitable, that means there's subsidization or that, if it won't be profitable, that means that there must be some sort of funding from Enbridge's parent, is unfounded.

I mean, the fact is many businesses take time to become profitable.  In the case of Enbridge Sustain, they have access to support from a corporate organization that goes well beyond the Enbridge Gas utility.

There is no reason to think that somehow ratepayer funds, whatever it is that HRAI might say are ratepayer funds, must be being funnelled into Enbridge Sustain if it's profitable or, perhaps, if it's not profitable.

Whether or not the entity is projected to be profitable or not profitable does not direct an answer as to whether or not there is ratepayer subsidization.

We say that that accusation is not a reasonable basis for the position that the business plan must be produced.

Of course, we also say that should this Board decide, should the Commissioners decide that disclosure is required, we will have further submissions on confidentiality, including perhaps limitations against competitors being able to view documents that are filed in confidence.

The next category of information that HRAI seeks through its motion is referred to as internal financial data.  HRAI-18, that's an interrogatory, asked Enbridge Gas to provide copies of the most recent internal financial statements for Enbridge Sustain.

At the technical conference, when the witnesses explained that Enbridge Sustain does not prepare financial statements, the request was changed to provide a copy of the management financial package.  And this is what is covered by JT4.16.

Now, Enbridge Gas did answer undertaking JT4.16; I believe you referred to it, Commissioner Duff, and the answer is included within the HRAI motion record.  And within that response Enbridge Gas did produce a redacted copy of its most recent management financial package.  My understanding is that this is the source document that contains the financial results for the Enbridge Sustain line of business that are presented to management.  I'm informed, I asked this morning, the Enbridge Sustain representatives who are with me and they confirmed to me that notwithstanding Mr. Shepherd's concerns this is, in fact, the full document that is presented monthly to management.  It's not an excerpt; it is the full document.
The unredacted information within the management financial package sets out the O&M capital spending for the 2024 year.  The redacted information which we say is irrelevant includes details about Enbridge Sustain's revenues, EBITDA, E-B-I-D-T-A, breakdown of capital spend, and changes to capital forecast.  

We say that the details of how Enbridge Sustain allocates its capital spend or details about its revenues and earnings are not relevant to the question at hand.  Whether Enbridge Sustain has positive or negative earnings and where it chooses to focus its capital dollars is not germane to the determination of whether Enbridge Sustain's activities are funded through rates.  For example, if Enbridge Sustain were to allocate capital equally between geothermal, EV charging, and hybrid heating or, instead, was to allocate the bulk of the capital at geothermal does not in any way answer the question of whether ratepayers are subsidizing the Enbridge Sustain business.  And similarly, whether or not Enbridge Sustain's forecast revenues match its costs does not bear on whether the business is being funded through rates.  So, we submit, therefore, that the redactions for irrelevance have been included within JT4.16 are appropriate and no further disclosure is required.

The next section of HRAI's motion focuses on requests for budgets and forecasts.  There is a list, or a number, of interrogatories where Enbridge Gas was requested to provide information about Enbridge Sustain's forecast costs for 2024 to 2028.  Areas where this information was requested include initial and current forecasts -- that's HRAI 5; facilities and premises costs, HRAI 11; amounts backed out of utility O&M budgets, HRAI 12; FTE and employee roles and costs, HRAI 17; direct costs and indirect costs of Enbridge Sustain, that's HRAI 20 and 22; corporate cost allocations, that's HRAI 23; and capital costs, which is HRAI 24.  

You can find those interrogatories between pages 15 and 29 of the HRAI motion record.  

Now, I'll start by saying that Enbridge Gas has provided the requested information in each of these interrogatory responses for the 2024 year showing the actual and forecast costs for the current year.  

Now Enbridge Gas has declined, though, to provide the requested information for 2025 to 2028, as we say this isn't relevant to the question of whether ratepayers are subsidizing or funding Enbridge Sustain.  We acknowledge that the information for 2024 is relevant in terms of showing that Enbridge Sustain is properly paying the fully allocated cost for services received from Enbridge Gas utility resources.  This is relevant because 2024 is the test year for this rebasing application and because 2024 is the year in which the OEB is undertaking a cost-of-service type examination of the utilities' operations.  

We say that future years are different.  One thing to keep in mind is that the budget forecast for future years for Enbridge Sustain have not yet been approved by management.  This was confirmed at the technical conference.  The reference there is transcript number 4, pages 109 to 110.

Now, to me, this begs the question of why something that's still work in progress is important to be produced, it's not something that Enbridge Sustain would rely upon, so why then or how should it be something that the OEB would rely upon?

Importantly, though, and further, we say that this information is not needed in order to determine whether Enbridge Sustain is currently funded by rates.  Enbridge Gas has provided all requested information in relation to the 2024 costs and cost forecasts for Enbridge Sustain.  Enbridge Gas has provided information about how costs are allocated to and paid by Enbridge Sustain.  And that has been provided specifically for 2024 and also conceptually in terms of business process.  It's been -- that information has been provided for how allocation will operate in future years.  We say that adding an approved 2025 to 2028 forecast information will not add to the OEB's ability to determine issue 27.  

Of course, Enbridge Gas will continue to report on its financial results each year as part of the annual earnings sharing filings, and as has always been the case, this will include information about allocations to and recoveries from affiliates and ancillary businesses.  We say that's a proper place where cost allocation involving Enbridge Gas and affiliates or ancillary businesses, including Enbridge Sustain can be examined and considered.  

And further, as OEB Staff has rightly pointed out, should there be a future issue around the allocation of costs between the Enbridge Sustain affiliate and Enbridge Gas, then that can be addressed through the ARC compliance process.

So, I have probably got about eight or nine more minutes.  Maybe seven or eight more minutes to go, Commissioner Moran.  So I'm in your hands as to how you'd like to proceed.

MR. MORAN:  Well, I think if you've only got eight or nine more minutes, then let's carry on.

MR. STEVENS:  Very good, thank you.  So the next category of information that HRAI seeks is information related to arrangements with the Canada Infrastructure Bank.  HRAI 2, that's an interrogatory, asks Enbridge Gas to produce various documents related to loan arrangements for Enbridge Sustain with CIB.  CIB is the Canada Infrastructure Bank.  This request includes memorandum of understanding, risk profile, and credit agreement.  Enbridge Gas did provide some information about the CIB arrangements in the interrogatory response originally filed.  The reference there is at HRAI motion record page 14.  But Enbridge Gas declined to provide the documents requested.

Enbridge Gas explained in its interrogatory response that it is not a party to agreements with CIB and that the agreements are actually with an affiliate.  Now, this topic was discussed further at the technical conference -- and, Angela, could I ask you please to bring up on the document brief, page 28?  

Now, in testimony at the technical conference, the Enbridge witnesses confirmed that the CIB loan is actually with a special purpose entity, not with Enbridge Sustain.  And that the special purpose entity is indirectly fully-owned by Enbridge Inc., not by Enbridge Gas.  And that can be seen in the excerpt that is on the page now, and you can also see it in Exhibit 1, should you wish to look at it later.

If you could turn to the next page, please?  There was more information, more discussion around the CIB arrangements.  And ultimately, the additional information that came out is that there is a parental guarantee associated with the CIB funding, but that parental guarantee comes from Enbridge Inc.  It doesn't come from Enbridge Gas Inc.

So we say with that context it's clear that the CIB arrangement relates to funds coming from a third party to help the Enbridge Sustain business run its business.

The funds are not coming from Enbridge Gas Inc. or even from Enbridge Inc.  And Enbridge Gas Inc. is not responsible for guaranteeing or backstopping the obligation.

We say that because these are not arrangements with Enbridge Gas, the details of the arrangements are not relevant to the question of whether there's ratepayer funding or subsidization for Enbridge Sustain.

There was a suggestion made within the technical conference and within HRAI's motion materials that, while ratepayers need to make sure that they're not somehow going to be liable for the obligations under the CIB arrangements, we say it should be sufficient that Enbridge has given clear evidence that any parental guarantee is from Enbridge Inc., which I think we can all agree is solvent enough to stand behind any such guarantees.  And it does not come from Enbridge Gas.

The final thing I will note is that the form and perhaps the content -- or the contents and perhaps the form of some of the CIB documentation is considered as confidential, not just to Enbridge but also to CIB.  So if disclosure is required, we may have further submissions on this topic as to confidential treatment.

The next topic that I will turn to from the topics listed in the HRAI motion is information related to corporate cost allocations.  In interrogatory HRAI-23 and in JT4.19, HRAI requested that Enbridge Gas provide details of all amounts related to corporate cost allocations for 2024 to 2028.

At the technical conference, this request was clarified to include all costs associated with each category of expense that's covered by corporate cost allocations.

Enbridge Gas has provided -- contrary to what my friend is suggesting, Enbridge Gas has provided all of the requested information for 2024.  And this can be seen in the response to JT4.19.

Angela, can I ask you please to turn up page 51 of the HRAI motion record?

This is the response.  That's great, if we just wait there.

This is the response that Enbridge Gas provided to JT4.19.

And what you can see from this response is that for each category of cost that's subject to central costs in a corporate cost allocation, Enbridge has provided information about not just the corporate cost allocation amount, but also the indirect costs or the cost for services that Enbridge Sustain has received from and paid to Enbridge Gas, as well as the direct costs, the costs that Enbridge Sustain has directly paid to a third party for that category of expense.

So, based on this, we believe we have fully answered the question that was asked and provided all the requested information.

Now that being said, we acknowledge we have not provided the corresponding information for 2025 to 2028, and the reasons for that are the same as what I have said in relation to forecast information for other items.

Now, on that point, I think it's probably worth pointing out that it's likely that any unapproved forecasts of future costs will not be at this level of granularity such that we could reproduce such a document for future years in any event.

And now I'll turn, you will be glad to hear, to the final category of items that HRAI raises in its motion.  And this is titled as, "Information related to Enbridge Sustain agreements."

So you heard Mr. Shepherd talk about this this morning.  But during the technical conference and in interrogatory requests, HRAI asked for a copy of the Enbridge Sustain HVAC equipment rental agreement and the dealer agreement.

Now we say that those requests are not relevant in any way to issue 27.  Perhaps they bear on the competitiveness of the market, but they don't bear on whether there's cross-subsidization.  But in order to be helpful, in order to try to have as few of these discussions as we are having, as have been brought up in the motion as possible, Enbridge Gas did provide a blank copy of its rental agreement.

And then, when it became clear during the technical conference that there was a more recent version of that rental agreement, Enbridge Gas also provided that more recent version.  And that's at undertaking JT4.13.

Now, we say that going further and providing details of what's in the rental agreement, including sample pricing and cost-of-credit disclosure, won't assist the OEB in determining whether Enbridge Sustain is funded by rates.  We say it's a huge stretch to look at one of these documents and say that somehow the pricing is so good that there must be subsidization from ratepayers. That seems like an untenable stretch to me, I submit.

Enbridge Gas did provide details about the dealer agreement to allay concerns from HRAI and point out that these are not, in fact, exclusive and that these, in fact, do not have any geographic bounds associated with them.  We hoped that would be enough, but HRAI is now seeking copies of the full dealer arrangement.

Again, we submit that that's not something that's helpful or necessary to the OEB in determining issue 27, essentially for the same reasons that I've just set out for the rental agreement.

We say it's not the OEB's role to oversee the HVAC industry or to review or opine on the business arrangements and participants in that industry.

The requests that have been made by HRAI for copies of a completed rental agreement and for a copy of the dealer agreement relate to competition within the HVAC sector and that's something that, by our understanding, is expressly out of scope for issue 27.

And subject to your questions, those are our submissions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Commissioner Sword, do you have any questions?

MR. SWORD:  Sorry, no questions, Commissioner Moran.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thanks  Commissioner Zlahtic?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  No questions, here.

MR. MORAN:  Commissioner Duff?

MS. DUFF:  No.

MR. MORAN:  Commissioner Elsayed?
Questions by the Board


MR. ELSAYED:  Yes, I do have one question.

Mr. Stevens, you talked about a number, I think about eight or nine interrogatories where your response was this information is not available.  And I think you clarified today that by that you meant that they have not yet been approved by management.  Is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.  I mean, it could be that as we get into some of the further years and we get into some of the granular details, that the information is neither available nor approved.  But at a high level, I think it's fair to say that when we initially said the information is unavailable, that was because it was preliminary; it was unapproved, it was work in progress.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And the second part of my question is would that information typically be part of the Enbridge Sustain business plan?

MR. STEVENS:  If I could have a moment, I'll consult with my colleagues here.

MR. ELSAYED:  Sure.

[Mr. Stevens confers with Enbridge panel]

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So, I'm advised that the business plan will have some forecast information for future years.  Again, it won't be approved forecast information but it is there, but it's likely not at the granular level of detail as requested in the long list of interrogatories that I went through, you know, it won't necessarily set out the facilities costs or the number of FTEs for each year or the details of capital costs but there would be some forward-looking information in there, yes.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, that's all I have.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elsayed.  Mr. Stevens, as I understand this issue, it's really focused on whether there's a subsidy from ratepayers to the Enbridge Sustain business process, for want of a better word.  And as I understand the request from HRAI is it sounds to me like that he want to establish to what extent is the ES business being operated at a loss, and to the extent that it's being operated at a loss, who's making up that loss.  And you've indicated in your submission that Enbridge Sustain enjoys broad corporate support within the Enbridge family beyond just Enbridge Gas.  

So my question is, wouldn't the details of that support of that information essentially provide an evidentiary basis for what's currently the assertion that ratepayers aren't making up the loss?

MR. STEVENS:  I made a reference -- thank you for that, Commissioner Moran.  I made a reference to being a little bit confused by what ratepayer funding might mean.  And I continue to be -- forgive the pun, at a loss to understand how it could be said that if money was somehow coming from some part of the Enbridge organization, even from the Enbridge Gas Inc. corporate entity which, as you know includes both regulated and unregulated lines of business, how it necessarily follows from that that the funding is quote-unquote ratepayer funding.


MR. MORAN:  Well I don't think that's what I was asking, Mr. Stevens.  What I was suggesting is if you can demonstrate that, isn't that an answer to the question that there is no ratepayer funding so what's the downside of providing that information?  It would seem to support the position that you're taking that there is no ratepayer subsidy because the money is coming from other sources, CIB, Enbridge Inc., special purpose entities, whomever?  Isn't that the way to establish the evidentiary beery basis for the assertion that Enbridge is making here that there is no ratepayer subsidy.

MR. STEVENS:  I suppose that at a high-level that could be so.  I mean witnesses have said that's the case already.  I'm not sure that most of the documents, perhaps all of the documents that are requested will answer that question anymore that than it's been answered so far.  I mean, having forecasts, sub 2025 to 2028 is not going to answer that question.  Having completed rental contracts and dealer agreements is not going to answer that question.  Having the CIB arrangements is not going to answer that question.  It's one of those ideas where trying to answer a negative is very difficult or establish something in the negative is very difficult.  But the information that's being requested really doesn't help us here.

MR. MORAN:  Well, let me just put this proposition to you.  If you provided the information that HRAI is providing and that information establishes, firstly, yes, Enbridge Sustain is operating at a loss, and then that information goes on to establish that that loss has been covered outside of Enbridge Gas or outside of ratepayer, doesn't that resolve the issue for your purposes.  You win on that issue, don't you?

MR. STEVENS:  It's interesting point.  I'm just going to -- if I may, I'm going to consult with my colleagues for a moment.  

[Mr. Stevens confers with Enbridge panel]

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  My apologies for the delay.  I understand your question.  I think -- to a large degree it answers itself as Enbridge Sustain moves to an affiliate.  Enbridge Sustain will be a separate entity at that point.  It won't be something where funds are -- it won't be something that's actually part of Enbridge Gas Inc.  As far as this year goes, Enbridge has provided, I will suggest, detailed information explaining where all of the costs reside and how they're paid for.  And I suggest that that should provide the OEB with comfort that ratepayer funds are not being used for any Enbridge Sustain activities, or to the extent that rate -- or that Enbridge utility resources are being used, they are being paid for appropriately.  

So we hope that that's sufficient to answer any concerns that the OEB may have around issue 27.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  We'll take a 15 minute break and we'll resume at 11:20.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, everyone.

So, Mr. Shepherd, it's over to you for reply.  I think the Panel notes that you didn't use all of your time in your argument-in-chief, and if you feel you need a few more minutes to complete your reply, that wouldn't be a problem.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am hopeful I won't be too long.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Shepherd


Let me start with the last thing that, Mr. Chair, you referred to and Commissioner Elsayed referred to, which is the business plan.

Let's just look at this, practically.  At some point, somebody at Enbridge proposed that Enbridge go into the equipment rental business, and they did a business plan.  Now, that business plan is for a business that Enbridge was already in a long time ago and they couldn't do it profitably without a ratepayer subsidy.  So you know that the business plan deals with why should we do this now when we couldn't do it before, when we had to sell it before.  That business plan has to deal with this.  Right?  Because otherwise, management will just say no.  "No, sorry, we already know we will blow our brains out with this.  We don't want to do it again."

And so that first business plan may well say, well, it will be profitable eventually, and here's how it will be profitable.

That's not likely, but that business plan could say, well, we'll get a benefit because we are going to be sharing a bunch of costs with the ratepayers.  And remember, this was done before there was any plan for an affiliate, right?  So they may say, well, you know, we will be able to indirectly get a ratepayer subsidy because of this, this and this, and they are all sort of legitimate.

Or it may say "Look, we want to lose money on this, we're happy to lose money on this because what we are trying to do is protect the gas infrastructure.  We are trying to prevent system pruning," for example.  "We don't want to have system pruning, so we want to connect as many people as possible to our pipes, so that we don't have to do it."

Or it may be that a general sort of, "This is a way to fight the energy transition by getting the public to accept hybrid heating in all their homes and lock them in for 15 years."  There could be a number -- I mean, they could be saying "Hey, the HVAC sector is starting to move towards heat pumps and electrification.  We better stop that; let's co-opt them."

There is a lot of things that the business plan could have said to justify going into a business that they know they are going to lose money on.  But it has to do something like that, or else why would management approve it?  That's the first business plan.

Then at some point, maybe this year or at some point relatively recently, there is a new business plan.  And the new business plan says, "Well, hey, we are going to have to move it out to an affiliate.  And so how is that going to change things?  Is it going to mean that we have to subsidize this differently.  Are we going to have to restructure.  What's going to happen?"

That business plan is also going to have to say how are we going to make money or not, or why are we justified in not making money.  And you can't tell if there's ratepayer funding unless you know what the plan is.  And if indeed they are right and there is no ratepayer funding then, as the Chair correctly points out, the business plan will say that.  It will show you clearly that that's not what they're doing.

So that's my first comment.

And so I want to be clear:  There are two business plans here.  There's the one business plan at the outset, and then there's another business plan, an update, if you like, that has been prepared for the affiliate.

And I should comment in this regard that Mr. Stevens said, well, you know, this -- Enbridge Sustain has access to a whole corporate group; it's not just the utility.  Well, yes, except that they decided to carry on the business in a regulated utility.  Nobody told them to do that; they decided to do that.

And, in fact, we know that at least to a certain extent they subsidize that business because they told us so.  They provided them with free facilities and then they said "Oops, sorry.  We didn't mean to do that.  We will fix that."

So they can talk about, well, you know, this is all just an Enbridge writ large organization.  No, that's not what actually happened here.  And we know that, because they have admitted it.

So then the third comment I would make is with respect to budgets and forecasts.  Mr. Stevens says well they're not approved by management.  I think some of you may have worked for Enbridge, and we all have been involved in utilities over the years.  Enbridge never approves five-year forecasts, ever.  They don't approve them.  They approve the current year, and the rest of it is context.  They still have them, and the current approval is based on the context of the next four years or five years.  But they don't approve it because, logically, they don't have enough information yet.  But they still know where they're going and where they're planning go to.

So you get an application for rates, and you have five years of information.  Is any of that approved by management?  Is that their budget?  No it's not.  This year is their budget.  The test year is their budget.  The rest of the years are not.

The next comment I would make is on Mr. Stevens talked about the CIB information, and about the fact that the CIB deal, which was signed by Enbridge Gas Inc. -- they admit to that, originally -- was then shifted to a special-purpose entity.

I just want to be clear:  The money from CIB is going to sales by Enbridge Sustain, which is in EGI.

When Enbridge Sustain makes a sale, they have to get the money to finance that from somewhere; they're getting it from CIB.

It doesn't matter that it's in a special-purpose entity, because somehow it gets to EGI.

So what is EGI's liability there?  They should just be willing to disclose this.  It's not like it's nuclear secrets.  This is a fairly straightforward situation where money has to get from a bank to the entity that needs to borrow the money.  And whether you do it though a special-purpose entity or you do it though the parent company or whatever, in the end, it has to get to EGI to finance the transactions.

So that's all we're asking for is information that will tell you ratepayers are protected here.  They said ratepayers are protected.  Well, all right.  If they are, show us.

The next comment I want to make -- I have these all numbered -- is on JT 4.19.  And Mr. Stevens says:
"We gave the answer for 2024 to JT4.19."

But our concern, which I thought I raised in my in-chief but maybe I didn't make it clear, is the term "central function."  We asked for all the costs in each of those categories for Enbridge Sustain.  They gave us the central function costs in each of those categories.  

So I would ask:  Is the total of those central function costs, is that the same as the total costs in JT4.16?  And I am not going to refer to those, but I will ask you to go look at them and see, is it the same number.

If it's not the same number, then they haven't given us everything we asked for, because we asked for all the costs with that breakdown.

Then my sixth comment is on the rental agreement, or on the agreements generally.  And I just -- on the rental contract, let's be clear:  Enbridge said this business was energy as a service.  It's not.  It's equipment rentals.  It is only because we asked for their contract that they had to disclose that.

So then, when they did disclose it, they gave us a contract that was current maybe 25 years ago, but not current today; it didn't comply with the law.

They've since filed a new one that's still not compliant with the law, and yet they expect you to say "Oh, this is fine.  We've got disclosure."

Well, no.  Show us how you're doing this.  Show us the numbers.

We can go to a customer and get a customer who has been offered a deal with Enbridge Sustain to give us their contract, but then they'll have to come and be a witness and all that sort of stuff.  Why would we put that on them when Enbridge has this information?

The next one is:  My friend Mr. Stevens says they have provided all sorts of internal documents.  And I went through and I looked at what internal documents they provided to support their assertions that there's no funding by ratepayers.  I didn't find a whole lot of internal documents, and so I would invite the Commissioners to go look at the record and see what internal documents are provided.  I didn't see a whole lot.  

And my last comment is -- oh, no, I have two more comments.  First, I wonder if you could look at KM1.1, page 11 -- no, sorry, page 14, I think.  That's our letter to the board with respect to our evidence.  Angela, can you put that up for me, please?  Sorry, maybe we've lost them.  I can't share it myself.  I don't think.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, Jay, you're looking for the letter talking about your evidence?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, KM 1.1, page 14 of your --


MR. STEVENS:  Okay.



MR. SHEPHERD:  Of your --

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, in your document brief that was marked.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, I think Ms. Monforton is just pulling it up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it's not page 14, it is page 26.  It says 26 on mine, anyway.  Yes, page 26.  

You will see Mr. Stevens has quoted you the highlighted paragraph and said, "See, HRAI is just talking about competition in the marketplace."


Well, he didn't bring you to the next paragraph in which it says, here's why that's important.  We can provide evidence as to what categories of costs may be underestimated, may have cross subsidies in them.  

Once we have the information from Enbridge, we can then look at what the standard is in the marketplace and we can tell you -- our evidence can tell you, here's where it looks like; there is a subsidy.  

So we were very clear we weren't talking about competition in the marketplace, we're talking about where the subsidy is.  

And finally at page -- I think it's 11 of my friend's material, OEB Staff has said, "Well, you know once it's an affiliate it doesn't matter anywhere.  It no longer concerns rates."  

But the Board has already -- you Commissioners have already made clear, and I will read from it: 
"If HRAI were correct that Enbridge Gas is using ratepayer funding for Enbridge Sustain, whether it is carried out as ancillary business or through an affiliate, that would be concerning."

And in fact I just want to be clear.  It's not like I'm asking the Board to do something new.  Whenever the Board looks at rates, one of the things it looks at is shared services, the transactions with affiliates and whether the ratepayers are bearing too much or too little cost.  It is a normal path part of the process.  It is -- you don't see -- in most rate applications, you don't see utilities saying no, no, no, no, no, we can't talk about that.  Compliance has to deal with that.  Not at all.  There is actually a table that utilities use.  In Enbridge's rate application they had a whole section on shared services, so it's not like this is news.  And so, to say, well, if it's an affiliate then it doesn't count, that's not correct.  That's not how the rate-making process works.  And unfortunately I think Mr. Richler is wrong in that respect.  

And so, subject to any questions, I believe that's everything I have.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Sword?

MR. SWORD:  No questions, Commissioner Moran, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Zlahtic?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  No questions.

MR. MORAN:  Ms. Duff?
Questions by the Board


MS. DUFF:  I do have one question.  Mr. Shepherd, there is about 20 requests that you have.  If you had to prioritize which ones were the most important -- you started with the business plan and we also talked about the credit facility, the agreement with the infrastructure bank.  Is there -- I mean, obviously, your request encompasses all 20, but if you had to prioritize, would there things be more persuasive for you in order to -- to prove that -- or demonstrate -- issue 27 was to demonstrate that ratepayer funding was not being used.  Perhaps you could address that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  I think, obviously, the business plans, both the initial one and the affiliate one, are the highest priority because that's where you are going to get, I think, the most thorough analysis of how this business fits into Enbridge and to the regulated utility.  I don't know; I haven't seen it, but I'm guessing that's the case.  So, that's the first priority.  

The second priority, I think, would be the -- sorry, I lost it -- the rental contract, filled in with information to see the that -- largely because we don't want to have to go out and get one out in the marketplace and bring a new witness in.  But that will tell the Board how the revenues are being generated from the primary part of this business, hybrid heating.  


And the third part is the -- the third one is the MOU from -- with the CIB, because EGI signed it, and because that will tell you the guts of the credit arrangement which is a $300 million business, 200 million is from CIB and 100 million from Enbridge Inc.  I mean, obviously, I'd like to see all the other stuff, too, and it is important, but in that order I think those are the three that are the most important.

MS. DUFF:  That's my only question.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Just a follow-up question, Mr. Shepherd, with respect to -- so as I understand it, you would like Enbridge to produce, I guess, an example of a hybrid heating customer contract?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  So, are you -- and, I guess, I just want to understand clearly what you're asking for, because I think you talked about with representative numbers.  Were you looking for a representative contract that's appropriately redacted?  So, the address, and person, name and all of that is removed and the pricing is in there?  Or are you looking for something different?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I actually wasn't even looking for an actual one, but rather for a contract filled in with what would be the numbers for a typical customer.  But I mean, obviously that can be done by simply providing an actual contract with a customer with all the identifying information redacted.  That would also do the job.  

The point is to be able to see what the built-in interest rate is, what the future revenue stream is, et cetera, because we would then be able to -- remember, our members include Enercare and Reliance who have similar businesses, right?  And they would be able to look at this and say, okay, here's their pricing compared to ours.  How are they doing that?  Obviously they're losing money.

MR. MORAN:  And then with respect to -- so, Mr. Stevens has argued that 2024 rates are base rates.  What we're looking at in this proceeding is how those base rates would be adjusted over an IRM period on an annual basis, and you are saying that you would like to get information relating to 2025 and beyond.

If you have the business plan for 2024, updated, that shows the five-year outlook, why do you need more than that, given that presumably that would be based on how things are working in 2024?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I think if we have 2024 with the numbers for 2025 through 2028 included in it, which is what the business plan would normally show, I think, then I think that's the central document that we're asking for.

The difficulty here, I think, is that while rates will be formulaic over the next four years, they will be formulaic with adjustments for known changes in costs.  That's how our IRM works generally, right?  And so this could be a big enough business that it matters, in terms of how Enbridge's rates should be adjusted over those next four years.  We don't know that because they haven't provided any information.  

But certainly, if they have $300 million of funding already, you know it's going to be fairly big.  It's not going to be immaterial.

MR. MORAN:  So again --and this is just purely for clarification and for understanding what you're asking for:  If you've got the most recent business plan for Enbridge Sustain that includes the five-year forecast that meets your needs, you're not looking for other information for subsequent years beyond that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I mean, we have asked for more granular forecasts of various types because obviously it will help us to identify where the subsidies are if we see the breakdowns of the costs.  But if that's too much work for Enbridge, if they don't have that, let's say -- I think they probably do have it, but if they don't have it or if it's a lot of work to produce it, the business plan is the central document.  It is the most important.

MR. MORAN:  Thanks.  Commissioner Zlahtic, I understand you have a question.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Yes.  Good morning, Mr. Shepherd.  I am just kind of following up on a question Pat Moran asked about the rental agreements, and that if you get a copy of a filled-in agreement, I mean just with the cost information -- and it's for a hybrid heating system that you are seeking, correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Well, that's their product.  Yes.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Yes, okay.  But wouldn't that one Agreement, and copy of, just be a snapshot, where there could be other rental agreements for the same technology.  For example, like, a different size combination of hybrid heating?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But the inputs to the -- to that deal will be known.  How much the equipment costs?  It's known.  How much it costs to service is it, is known.  You can extract from the data what the implied financing cost is, and the financing costs in the marketplace are known.

So yes, it's true that individual contracts will be different.  But they will be different because of the inputs which are known, not because they are negotiating a different deal with each customer.  Each customer is getting the same basic structure.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I guess one other question, and it was something I didn't quite catch that you made in your submission, or your reply, sorry.  And you made reference to Mr. Richler, and that you disagree with him.

Can you repeat what that was, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Mr. Richler says that OEB Staff say that once it's transferred out to an affiliate, this Panel of Commissioners is no longer concerned with it.  It is no longer a rates issue, it is an ARC issue.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true that ARC deals with cross-subsidization, although ARC is more about sharing information and things like that.  But it also includes cross-subsidization, for sure.  But for him to say "Well, the rates panel no longer has to look at it because it is in an affiliate," is not what the Board does.

The Board -- in fact in every case -- I have been in hundreds of cases, and in every case you look at what are the transactions with affiliates back and forth, and are they at fair market value.  That's a rate issue.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Thank you, very much.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Shepherd, just one last question:  You asked for a delay in the filing deadline for HRAI's evidence.  And so we suspended that in the procedural order setting up this motion.

In the event that the Panel was to grant relief on your motion that Enbridge has to produce more information, how much time do you think you would reasonably expect to complete he preparation of your evidence?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just had this discussion this morning, actually.  I think the simple answer is it depends on how much information is provided, but assuming that the key documents are provided, we probably can file written evidence, certainly within 10 days.  I would target a week, but that may be asking for too much.  It being August, not everybody is around.  But 10 days I think we could do.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

I think that completes our hearing on the motion.

Are there any matters that any party wants to raise separately at this point?  If not, thank you very much, everybody, for your assistance.  And we will reserve on this matter.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:48 a.m.
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